IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DI STRI CT OF TENNESSEE
WESTERN DI VI SI ON

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

)
)
Plaintiff, )
)
VS. ) No. 02-20196 GV
)
MARVI N KI NG, )
)
Def endant . )

REPORT AND RECOMVENDATI ON
ON DEFENDANT’ S MOTI ON TO SUPPRESS

The defendant in this case, Marvin King, has been indicted on
one count of possessing a firearmas a convicted felon in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §8 922(g). The charge arises out of an investigative
stop and frisk by a Cty of Mnphis police officer and the
subsequent seizure of a |oaded .22 caliber handgun from King' s
person. King noved to suppress the handgun, alleging that it was
obtained in violation of his Fourth Arendnent right to be free from
unr easonabl e searches and seizures. H s notion was referred to the
United States Magistrate Judge for a report and reconmendation
under 28 U. S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B) and (C).

Pursuant to the reference, an evidentiary hearing was hel d on
Decenber 11, 2002. At the hearing, the governnment presented one

W tness, Oficer Parz Boyce of the Menphis Police Departnent. The



defendant called M. Keith Blair Garner Il, a resident of Finger,
Tennessee. After careful consideration of the statenents of
counsel, the testinony of the witnesses, and the briefs of the
parties, the court submits the following findings of facts and
conclusions of |aw and recomends that the notion to suppress be
deni ed.
PROPOSED FI NDI NGS OF FACT

At about 6:00 p.m on March 15, 2002, Oficer Parz Boyce of
the Menphis Police Departnent was patrolling the 2800 bl ock of
Kinball, in the Southeast Precinct, Mnphis, Tennessee. Oficer
Boyce had just finished a routine check of a store and was backi ng
hi s marked police vehicle out of its driveway, preparing to proceed
east on Kinball. He saw the defendant, Marvin King, standing in
the road and apparently fl aggi ng down a white Toyota. According to
O ficer Boyce, the Toyota had stopped or was stopping in a
west bound traveling | ane of Kinball near the center of the street,
a few yards away from the entrance to an apartnent conplex.
Suspi ci ous because the pedestrian and vehicle had not pulled into
the apartment conplex driveway and concerned that they were
obstructing traffic on Kinball, Oficer Boyce made a U-turn with
his police vehicle and pulled in behind the Toyota with his bl ue
police vehicle lights flashing. Oficer Boyce exited his police

vehi cle, and as he approached the Toyota, he saw King talking to
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the driver of the Toyota through the driver’s window. King turned
slightly toward O ficer Boyce, revealing the sil houette of a gun in
t he pocket of the jogging pants he was wearing. Oficer Boyce saw
the silhouette, “talked [King] back” to the police vehicle, and
pl aced King’s hands on the vehicle. Oficer Boyce saw the butt of
a handgun protruding from King' s pocket. O ficer Boyce frisked
King and seized a .22 caliber handgun | oaded with five rounds of
ammuni ti on.

The testinmony of Garner, the driver of the white Toyota
differed slightly, but not in critical detail. Garner testified
that he was dropping off King after the two had spent an hour of
work repairing tire ruts in | andscapi ng. Garner acknow edged t hat
the Toyota was stopped in one lane of Kinball, but he did not
believe it was obstructing traffic. Garner testified that he
pul | ed his vehicle over near the curb to let King out. King had
left Garner’s Toyota and started to cross Kinball when Garner
hail ed him saying that he mght call on King for nore work in the
future. King stopped partway across Kinball, returned to Garner’s
vehicle, and stood near the driver’s side w ndow to discuss the
details. Garner also testified that, while working with Ki ng that
day, he saw nothing in King s pocket and no silhouette that
appeared to be handgun. However, he could not renenber what King

was wearing that day, and he did not testify as to whether he saw
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anything in King' s pocket while King was standing next to the
Toyota. There was no ot her evidence presented concerni ng what King
was wearing that day.

Bot h wi t nesses testified credi bly although Garner’s testinony
that he never saw a gun in King s pants pocket is sonewhat suspect
because Garner could not recall what King was wearing that day.
Regardl ess, the only significant difference in the testinonies of
the two witnesses concerned the location of Garner’s car when it
was stopped. Because the testinonies of the two witnesses do not
contradi ct each other on any point other than the |ocation of the
vehicle, which, the court submts, is not gernane to the
suppression analysis, Oficer Boyce's testinony should be accepted
as fact insofar as it pertains to the events which led to the
search of King and the seizure of the gun.

PROPOSED CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

When a search and a sei zure are undertaken wi thout a warrant,
t he gover nnent has the burden of proving probabl e cause or that the
conditions of a tenporary Terry investigative stop have been net.
See Terry v. Chio, 392 U S. 1 (1968) (permtting an investigative
stop and a frisk for weapons); United States v. Wnfrey, 915 F. 2d
212, 216 (6th Gr. 1990) (citing Florida v. Royer, 460 U S. 491,
500 (1983) to place the burden of proof upon the governnent). A

warrant| ess search is per se unreasonable except for a few well -
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defined exceptions. Katz v. United States, 389 U S. 347, 357
(1967); United States v. Lew s, 504 F.2d 92, 100 (6th Cr. 1974).
Among these exceptions are so-called Terry “stop and frisk”
searches in connection wth an investigative stop. Terry v. Onio,
392 U S 1 (1968). In Terry v. Chio, 392 US 1 (1968), the
Suprene Court held that:

[Where a police officer observes unusual conduct which
| eads him reasonably to conclude in light of his
experience that crimnal activity may be afoot and that
the persons with whom he is dealing may be arned and
present |y dangerous, where in the course of investigating
this behavior he identifies hinself as a policenan and
makes reasonable inquiries, and where nothing in the
initial stages of the encounter serves to dispel his
reasonable fear for his own or others’ safety, he is
entitled for the protection of hinmself and others in the
area to conduct a carefully limted search of the outer
clothing of such persons in an attenpt to discover
weapons whi ch m ght be used to assault him

Terry, 392 U S. at 30-31. The inquiry in such cases is two-part:
whether the initial stop and the subsequent frisk were reasonabl e
under the Fourth Anendnent.

A. Reasonabl eness of Initial Stop

The fundanmental inquiry under Terry i s whether officers “have
a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particul ar
person stopped of crimnal activity.” United States v. Cortez, 449
US 411, 417-18 (1981). This requirement of a particularized
suspicion has two prongs. 1d. at 418. The assessnent of whet her

the officer had a particularized suspicion nust be based on the
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totality of the circunstances known to the officer at the time of
the stop, id., and that assessnment nust "“arouse a reasonable
suspi cion that the particul ar person bei ng st opped has comm tted or
I's about to conmt a crine,” United States v. Mntero-Camargo, 208
F.3d 1122, 1129-30 (quoting Cortez, 449 U S. at 418, and Terry,
392 U.S. at 21 n.18). “The officer nust be able to articulate nore
than an ‘inchoate and unparticul ari zed suspi cion’ or a ‘hunch’ that
crimnal activity is afoot.” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U S. 119,
123-24 (2000) (quoting Terry, 392 U.S. at 27, n.2).

O ficer Boyce's initial stop of King was reasonabl e under the
totality of the circunstances. The stop occurred in the evening
hours. It appeared to Oficer Boyce that a pedestrian was fl aggi ng
dowmn a vehicle in an area known for high drug activity. The
vehicle had stopped in the road, rather than pulling into the
near by apartnent conplex driveway. Oficer Boyce testified that
this series of events was sufficiently unusual to draw his
attention. In the course of nore than one hundred drug-rel ated
arrests in his | awenforcenent career, according to Oficer Boyce's
testinony, an approach by a pedestrian of a vehicle and a
subsequent conversation at the driver’s side wi ndow often invol ved
a drug or weapon transactions. Oficer Boyce further testified
that he not only has patrolled the Southeast Precinct for three

years, but that he also grew up in the Southeast Precinct area and
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is famliar with the kind of illegal activity that frequently
occurs there. Oficer Boyce candidly admtted that, in |ight of
hi s experience and the circunstances, he intended to investigate
whet her the events he saw indicated a drug or weapon exchange in
progress. The fact that O ficer Boyce s assessnment turned out to
be incorrect is not relevant; the inquiry is whether he made a
reasonabl e interpretation of the events leading up to the stop

United States v. Montero-Camargo, 208 F.3d 1122, 1130 n.11 (6th
Cir. 2000) (citing United States v. Robert L., 874 F.2d 701, 703
n.2 (9th Gr. 1989)). A reasonable officer with O ficer Boyce's
background and experience |ikely would have nmade the sane
assessnment and approached King to confirmor dispel that suspicion.
Accordingly, it is submtted that the stop was |awful under the
Terry doctrine.

B. Reasonabl eness of Fri sk

Once an officer has the requisite reasonabl e suspicion based
upon the totality of the circunstances to conduct a stop, the
of ficer may conduct a pat-down search to determ ne whether the
person is carrying a weapon, if the officer has a justifiable
bel i ef that the individual stopped is arnmed and presently dangerous
to the officer or to others. Terry, 392 U S at 24.

Here, O ficer Boyce testified that he saw the sil houette of a

gun in King s pocket as soon as he began to approach King. He also
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testified that King was wearing jogging pants. Garner’s testinony
did not contradict or inpeach Oficer Boyce s testinony on this
point. Garner testified for the defense that he had not seen any
sil houette in King' s pocket earlier that day, but he did not
testify as to what he saw at the tine of Oficer Boyce' s approach
nor could he recall what King was wearing that day. Accepti ng
O ficer Boyce's testinobny as fact, it is submitted that Oficer
Boyce devel oped a reasonabl e suspi ci on that King was arnmed as soon
as he sawthe sil houette of a gun in King’ s pocket. Gven the tine
of evening, the fact that Oficer Boyd was patrolling al one, the
fact that Oficer Boyd was in uniform driving a marked vehicl e,
and easily identifiable as a | aw enforcenent officer, and the high-
crime nature of the area, Oficer Boyd was justified in frisking
Ki ng, out of concern for the safety of hinself and others, as soon
as he sawthe silhouette that he identified as a gun. See Terry v.
Ohio, 392 U S. 1, 23-24 (1968) (approving the reasonabl eness of a
frisk conducted fromconcern for officer safety). Accordingly, it
is submtted that the frisk was |awful under the Terry doctrine.
CONCLUSI ON

King' s case presents a classic Terry stop. Under the totality
of the circunstances, Oficer Boyce had a reasonabl e,
particul ari zed suspicion that a drug or weapon exchange was af oot

when he saw a vehicle stop in the roadway and saw a pedestrian
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approach a vehicle in an area that the officer knew to have a high
i nci dence of drug and weapon exchanges. This justified aninitia
stop of King, at which tine Oficer Boyce saw the sil houette of a
gun in King s pants. O ficer Boyce' s observation of the sil houette
of gun gave O ficer Boyce a justifiable belief that King was ar ned.
O ficer Boyce was therefore justified in frisking King out of
concern for officer and bystander safety. Accordingly, it is
recommended that King' s notion to suppress the fruits of the frisk
be deni ed.

Respectfully submtted this 16th day of Decenber, 2002.

DI ANE K. VESCOVO
UNI TED STATES MAGQ STRATE JUDGE



